1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3 MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE,

4
5 Appellant,

6 vs.

7
8 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

9 Respondent.

Case No. 65390

Electronically Filed
Jan 11 2016 08:49 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

10
11
12
13 **APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION**
14 **OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

15
16
17
18
19
20
21 CHRISTOPHER ARABIA, Esq.
22 Nevada Bar #9749
23 Attorney at Law
24 610 South 10th St.
25 Suite 107
26 Las Vegas, NV 89101
27 (702) 701-4391

28 Attorney for Appellant
MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE

ROBERT E. GLENNEN III, Esq.
Nevada Bar #2143
Esmeralda County District Attorney
231 Crook St.
Goldfield, NV 89013
(775) 485-6352

Attorney for Respondent
THE STATE OF NEVADA

1 affidavit and whether the Justice Court in the instant matter committed egregious
2 error.

3
4 Regarding the first question, the District Court permitted the filing of an
5 information by affidavit by means of a motion filed 63 days after the discharge,
6 despite the 15-day limit mandated by statute. The Court of Appeals affirmed and
7 seems to have promulgated a rule that, despite the statute, there is no actual time
8 limit on filing for an information by affidavit unless the defendant can show
9 specific prejudice. In a concurrence *dubitante* (in substance if not title), one of the
10 three members of the Court of Appeals conducted a thorough analysis and
11 concluded that the statute does not permit any deviation from the 15-day rule when
12 the prospective information by affidavit follows a discharge at preliminary hearing
13 (as was the case here).

14
15 As to the second question, the District Court found that the Justice Court
16 committed “egregious error” at the preliminary hearing and thus granted the state’s
17 motion to file an information by affidavit. The Court of Appeals established a
18 definition of the heretofore undefined term “egregious error” as a plain error that
19 affects the result of the preliminary hearing.

20
21 The Court of Appeals then determined that the District Court was correct in
22 finding egregious error on two primary grounds. First, the Court of Appeals found
23 that the Justice Court ruling on a hearsay objection was egregious error. An
24

1 improper ruling that a statement was hearsay. Second, the Court of Appeals agreed
2 with the District Court that the Justice Court committed egregious error with its
3 decision not to allow the state to amend the complaint after it had submitted and
4 argued, and the defense had presented its argument, i.e. during the state's rebuttal
5 argument; this determination came even though allowing such an amendment is
6 not mandatory.
7
8

9
10 The instant appeal presents an opportunity to achieve the following
11 important objectives:

12 1) to confirm that the statutory language mandating that following a
13 discharge, an information by affidavit shall be filed within 15 days;

14
15 2) to confirm that there is some meaningful limit on the amount of time that
16 the state has to file an information by affidavit, even if the defendant is unable to
17 make a specific demonstration of specific prejudice attributable to the delay;

18
19 3) to review the definition of "egregious error" newly promulgated by the
20 Court of Appeals; and
21

22 4) to confirm that a Justice Court is not required to permit amendment of a
23 criminal complaint when the state has already rested and presented its argument,
24 the defense has already presented its argument, and the state offers no explanation
25 for why it failed to offer evidence supporting the charged and argued offense.
26
27
28

1 **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE REASONS**
2
3 **THAT REVIEW IS WARRANTED (NRAP 40B(a) and 40B(d))**

4
5 **Question 1:** Must the state be required to comply with statutory
6
7 language mandating that an information by affidavit shall be filed within the 15
8 days prescribed by statute if the preliminary hearing ends in a discharge and does
9 the 15-day statutory requirement impose any meaningful time limitation on the
10 state for filing an information by affidavit following a bind over (or discharge)?

11
12 Review is warranted because 1) the information by affidavit is an integral
13 component of the criminal law and resolution of the issues presented in the instant
14 matter would provide helpful clarification and therefore enhance the efficiency and
15 fairness of the criminal justice system; 2) as detailed in the Court of Appeals
16 concurrence, the most logical interpretation of the 15-day rule in cases (such as the
17 instant case) when the information follows a discharge is that the statute affords no
18 discretion to extend the time beyond 15 days; and 3) the Court of Appeals decision
19 seems to disregard the 15-day statutory requirement and allow the filing of an
20 information by affidavit at any time unless the defendant can show specific
21 prejudice, even in a situation where the state moves to file long after the 15 days
22 and without discernible reason for delays of whatever length.
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 The Concurrence (*dubitante* in substance if not title) provides a thorough
2 analysis and concludes based on the clear terms of NRS 173.035(3), an
3 information **must** be filed within 15 days of the preliminary hearing. *See* p. 1 of
4 Concurrence to Order of Affirmance, which appears after p. 15 of the Order of
5 Affirmance). The only exception to that requirement comes from NRS 178.556,
6 which allows the District Court the discretion to decline to dismiss an information
7 that violates the 15-day rule **if the defendant was held to answer. NRS 178.556**
8 **does not afford the same discretion for defendants, like Appellant Moultrie,**
9 **who are discharged.** *Id.* at p. 3. The Concurrence correctly distinguishes between
10 discharge and bind over, and the distinction mandates that there was no discretion
11 to go beyond the 15-day deadline. *Id.* at p. 5. Thus, an information filed 63 days
12 after the preliminary hearing, as was the information in the instant case, should not
13 have been permitted.

14 The Court of Appeals has ruled that the requirement in NRS 173.035(3) that
15 an information be filed within 15 days does not apply unless the defendant can
16 show specific prejudice, regardless of how much time beyond 15 days elapses
17 before the filing (specifically, the 63-day delay in the instant matter would not
18 suffice). *See* Order of Affirmance, pp. 4-5. The Court of Appeals (majority)
19 opinion did not address the distinction created because the discretion afforded by
20 NRS 178.556 is inapplicable to discharges.

1 This is manifestly unfair and drains the system of finality. If the state is
2 permitted to drag a defendant back into a case long after a discharge, the prejudice
3 is obvious even if not easily articulable. This is even more true in rural areas that
4 could be far from defendants' homes and often impose transportation hardship on
5 indigent defendants. Discharging any defendant but then allowing the state to
6 resuscitate the case whenever the state feels like reviving it leaves the defendant
7 hostage to prosecutorial whimsy and mischief. There can be no fairness without
8 reliable finality.
9

10
11
12 The issue of whether there are time limitations on filing informations by
13 affidavit, and if so what the limits are, is a question "of first impression and general
14 statewide significance," NRAP 40B(a)(1), and presents "fundamental issues of
15 statewide public importance," NRAP 40B(a)(3). While Moultrie is unable to say
16 how many cases are affected by this issue each year, Moultrie's counsel just by
17 himself has encountered information by affidavit issues numerous times.
18
19
20

21 The instant case should be reviewed by the Supreme Court because it
22 combines important issues of first impression and a sharp difference in
23 interpretation between the Order of Affirmance and the Concurrence (*dubitante* in
24 substance if not title).
25
26
27
28

1 **Question 2:** Should “egregious error” in the context of informations
2 by affidavit be defined as plain error that affects the result of the proceedings, and
3 is it “egregious error” for the Justice Court during a preliminary hearing to decline
4 to allow the state to amend the complaint after the state has submitted and argued,
5 after the defense has argued, i.e. during the state’s rebuttal argument, and when the
6 law holds that the Justice Court *may* allow the state to amend (as opposed to *shall*
7 permit such amendment)?
8

9
10
11 Review is warranted because 1) the information by affidavit is integral
12 component of the criminal and resolution of the issues presented in the instant
13 matter would provide helpful clarification and therefore enhance the efficiency and
14 fairness of the criminal justice system; 2) the Court of Appeals has defined the
15 heretofore undefined term “egregious error” in the context of informations filed by
16 affidavit, and created a definition seemingly retreating from the very term
17 “egregious;” and 3) the Court of Appeals has found egregious error in a situation in
18 which the Justice Court did not permit amendment of a complaint after the state
19 had rested, submitted and argued, and the defense had argued, i.e. during the
20 state’s rebuttal argument, and the state never explained its failure.
21
22
23
24

25 The Court of Appeals discussed the origins of the “egregious error” term as
26 it pertains to the information by affidavit codicil in NRS 173.035(2); the NRS
27 173.035(2) codicil exists to protect against egregious error by a magistrate and not
28

1 as a means to remedy deficiencies in evidence via affidavit. *See* Order of
2 Affirmance, p. 8. The Court of Appeals then defines “egregious error” as plain
3 error by a magistrate that affects the result of the hearing. *Id.* at p. 9. The Court of
4 Appeals built to that conclusion by declaring that the egregious error cited in
5 Supreme Court decisions is actually “plain error, although that label is not used.”
6
7
8 *Id.* at p. 8.

9
10 *Cranford v. Smart*, 92 Nev. 89, 91 545 P.2d 1162 (1976) established the
11 term “egregious error” without defining it. *Id.* If the *Cranford* Court had meant
12 plain error, the Court could have used the term “plain error” instead of opting for
13 “egregious error;” the two terms presumably use different modifiers for a reason,
14 and “egregious error” connotes a miscue at least a magnitude more serious than
15 “plain error.” It is therefore puzzling to see the two terms melded into one.
16
17

18 The Court of Appeals agreed with the District Court’s finding that the
19 Justice Court committed egregious error by not allowing the amendment of the
20 complaint after the state had rested and argued, and the defense had argued, i.e.
21 during rebuttal argument. *See* p. 13 of Order of Affirmance.
22
23

24 To support this contention, the Court of Appeals cites a case that held that a
25 defendant may be bound over for an offense other than that charged in the
26 complaint (citing *Singleton v. Sheriff, Clark Cnty.*, 6 Nev. 590, 593, 471 P.2d 247,
27 249 (1970) (internal citation omitted) and another case for the proposition that a
28

1 Justice Court may permit the state to amend the complaint to align with the
2 evidence presented (citing *Viray v. State*, 121 Nev. 159, 163, 111 P.3d 1079, 1082
3 (2005)). *See* p. 12 of Order of Affirmance.

4
5 The Court of Appeals also asserted that the complaint was in error because
6 the complaint specified a category C felony (violation of NRS 453.337(2)(b)
7 (second offense)) and the state moved to amend to a category D felony (violation
8 of NRS 453.337(2)(a) (first offense)). The Court of Appeals then cited NRS
9 173.075(3) for its claim that “error in citation of statute is not a ground for
10 dismissal unless error resulted in prejudice.” *Id.* at p. 13. This is troubling because
11 as far as Moultrie has been able to determine, the state has never alleged an error in
12 citation or an error and the record is bereft of corroboration for the assertion by the
13 Court of Appeals that the charge in the complaint resulted from error.

14
15 The *Viray* and *Singleton* cases cited by the Court of Appeals seem to hold
16 that the Justice Court may permit the amendment of complaints at preliminary
17 hearing, and perhaps disallowing an amendment during the hearing or at the close
18 of the state’s case would be unreasonable, but those cases do not seem to
19 contemplate that disallowing an amendment after the state has closed its case and
20 presented its argument, and the defense has presented its argument (based on the
21 complaint as it existed at the time of the argument), would in and of itself
22 constitute an egregious error.
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 The issue surrounding the definition and applicability of “egregious error” in
2 the context of informations by affidavit is a question “of first impression of general
3 statewide significance,” NRAP 40B(a)(1), and presents “fundamental issues of
4 statewide public importance,” NRAP 40B(a)(3). While Moultrie is unable to say
5 how many cases are affected by this issue each year, Moultrie’s counsel just by
6 himself has encountered this issue numerous times in the last five years.
7
8

9
10
11 **CONCLUSION**
12

13
14 The instant petition should be GRANTED.

15 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 11th day of January, 2016.
16

17
18 

19 _____
20 CHRISTOPHER ARABIA, Esq.
21 Nevada Bar #9749
22 Attorney at Law
23 601 South 10th St., Suite 107
24 Las Vegas, NV 89101
25 (702) 701-4391
26 Attorney for Appellant
27 MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE
28

1 **CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE**

2
3 1. As required by NRAP 40B(d) and 32(c)(2), I hereby certify that this
4 Petition for Review of the Decision of the Court of Appeals complies with the
5 formatting requirements of NRAP 32(a)(4), the typeface requirements of NRAP
6 32(a)(5), and the type style requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because:
7

8 This Petition has been prepared using paper sized 8.5 x 11 inches, line
9 spacing is 2.50 spaces, margins are 1 inch on each side, and pages are numbered
10 (NRAP Rule 32(a)(4); it has been prepared using a proportionally spaced type face
11 using Microsoft Word in Times New Roman type style (NRAP 32(a)(5)(typeface);
12 (NRAP 32(a)(6)(type style)).
13
14

15 2. I further certify that this Petition complies with the page or type-
16 volume limitations of NRAP 40B(d) because it is proportionately spaced, has a
17 typeface of 14 points, and does not contained more than 4,667 words.
18

19 DATED this 11th day of January, 2016.
20

21 

22 _____
23 CHRISTOPHER ARABIA, Esq.
24 Nevada Bar #9749
25 Attorney at Law
26 601 South 10th St., Suite 107
27 Las Vegas, NV 89101
28 702-701-4391
Attorney for Appellant
MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT
A F F I R M A T I O M - NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document, APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS filed in case number 65390 does **NOT** contain the social security number of any person.

DATED this 11th day of January, 2016.



CHRISTOPHER ARABIA, Esq.
Attorney at Law

1 **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

2
3 I hereby certify that this document was filed electronically with the Nevada
4
5 Supreme Court on January 11th, 2016. Electronic Service of the foregoing
6
7 documents shall be made in accordance with the Master Service List as follows:

8 Esmeralda County District Attorney's Office

9
10 Attorney General of Nevada

11
12 I further certify that I served a copy of this document by mailing a true and
13
14 correct copy to thereof, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

15 Adam Laxalt, Esq.
16 Nevada Attorney General
17 100 N. Carson St.
18 Carson City, NV 89701

19 Robert E. Glennen, Esq.
20 Esmeralda County DA's Office
21 231 Crook St.
22 Goldfield, NV 89013

23 

24 _____
25 CHRIS ARABIA, Esq.
26 Nevada Bar #9749
27 601 S. 10th St. Ste. 107
28 Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 701-4391
Attorney for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE,
Appellant,
vs.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent.

No. 65390

FILED

DEC 24 2015

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY S. Young
DEPUTY CLERK

Appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a conditional guilty plea, of possession of a controlled substance with intent to sell, a category D felony under NRS 453.337(2)(a). Fifth Judicial District Court, Esmeralda County; Robert W. Lane, Judge.

Affirmed.

Law Offices of Chris Arabia, PC, and Christopher R. Arabia, Las Vegas, for Appellant.

Adam Paul Laxalt, Attorney General, Carson City; and Robert E. Glennen, III, District Attorney, Esmeralda County, for Respondent.

BEFORE GIBBONS, C.J., TAO and SILVER, JJ.

OPINION

By the Court, GIBBONS, C.J.:

In this appeal, we address whether a district court abused its discretion by allowing the State to file an information by affidavit more than 15 days after the preliminary examination concluded where the defendant was discharged but was not prejudiced by the delay. Additionally, we define the term "egregious error" and address whether a

justice court commits egregious error if the error results in the dismissal of a charge or discharge of a criminal defendant for lack of probable cause.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Matthew Moultrie was a passenger in a car stopped for a traffic violation by Deputy Sheriff Matthew Kirkland. The driver orally consented to a search of the car. Kirkland discovered a backpack on the seat or floor behind Moultrie that contained fifty dollars, a glass pipe, and a plastic bag holding a crystalline substance. Moultrie claimed the items belonged to someone else. Kirkland arrested Moultrie for drug possession because Kirkland believed the substance was methamphetamine and it belonged to Moultrie. Moultrie admitted ownership of the items after being advised of his *Miranda*¹ rights and admitted he planned to sell the drugs. The substance tested presumptively positive for amphetamine.

The Justice Court of Esmeralda Township held a preliminary examination, and the State called Kirkland and another deputy as witnesses. Moultrie objected on hearsay grounds to Kirkland's testimony that the driver provided oral consent for a search of the car, and the justice court sustained the objection. Moultrie then objected to any testimony about evidence seized during the search as fruit of the poisonous tree. The justice court briefly inquired into whether there was consent to search the backpack, but no testimony was given and no ruling was made. The justice court allowed the hearing to proceed but ultimately excluded the testimony describing the evidence seized during the search.

¹*Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Possession of a controlled substance with intent to sell is a category D felony under NRS 453.337(2)(a). It is a category C felony if the defendant has a prior conviction and is convicted under NRS 453.337(2)(b). The State charged Moultrie in the criminal complaint with the category C felony but did not allege a prior conviction in the complaint or produce any evidence at the preliminary examination demonstrating that a prior conviction existed. During its rebuttal closing argument, the State moved to amend the complaint to charge Moultrie under NRS 453.337(2)(a) in order to conform to the evidence produced. The justice court denied the State's motion. The justice court concluded that the State did not meet its burden of proof for the category C felony and discharged Moultrie.

The State moved for leave to file an information by affidavit in the district court and included a proposed information charging Moultrie with the category D felony, asserting egregious error by the justice court. The State filed the motion 63 days after the justice court discharged Moultrie. Moultrie opposed the State's motion, claiming the motion was untimely, was filed without good cause for the delay, and was prejudicial. Moultrie also responded that the justice court did not commit egregious error; therefore, the State had no basis to file an information by affidavit.

The district court granted the State's motion 34 days after it was filed, concluding the State presented sufficient evidence during the preliminary examination to support a finding of probable cause for the category D felony. Additionally, the district court concluded that (1) the State's delay in filing the motion did not prejudice Moultrie, (2) the justice court committed egregious error by sustaining Moultrie's hearsay

objection, and (3) the justice court committed egregious error by denying the State's motion to amend the complaint.

Moultrie pleaded guilty as charged but reserved the right to appeal the district court's order granting the State's motion to file an information. See NRS 174.035(3). The district court imposed a prison sentence of 19 to 48 months but suspended it and placed Moultrie on probation for five years. This appeal follows.

ANALYSIS

Timeliness of the motion

Moultrie first contends that the district court erred by permitting the State to file an information by affidavit when the State filed its motion for leave of court 63 days after he was discharged by the justice court. We disagree.

It is within the discretion of the district court to grant a motion to file an information by affidavit. See NRS 173.035(2). To establish that the district court abused its discretion by granting a motion to file an information by affidavit more than 15 days after the preliminary examination,² the defendant must demonstrate actual prejudice resulting

²Although not argued below or on appeal, we note that applying the 15-day time limit to the filing of an information by affidavit pursuant to NRS 173.035(2) is problematic. Pursuant to NRS 173.035(3), an information must be filed within 15 days of the holding of a preliminary examination. If a defendant is held to answer, the State exercises an executive or administrative function by filing the information in district court. See NRS 173.045. The 15-day limitation is a logical restriction in the case of a defendant being held to answer because filing an information simply involves retitling the complaint as an information and endorsing the names of witnesses. *Id.* If a defendant is discharged, however, an information by affidavit may only be filed if the State first obtains leave of court, a judicial decision, without a statutory- or rule-imposed deadline on

continued on next page...

from the untimely filing. *See, e.g., Berry v. Sheriff, Clark Cnty.*, 93 Nev. 557, 558-59, 571 P.2d 109, 110 (1977) (holding that where no prejudice was demonstrated, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying a motion to dismiss an information that was filed more than 15 days after the preliminary examination); *Thompson v. State*, 86 Nev. 682, 683, 475 P.2d 96, 97 (1970) (same). The prejudice alleged cannot be hypothetical or speculative. *See Wyman v. State*, 125 Nev. 592, 601, 217 P.3d 572, 579 (2009) (rejecting claim of prejudice resulting from pre-indictment delay where the defendant failed “to make a particularized showing of actual, nonspeculative prejudice resulting from the delay”); *State v. Autry*, 103 Nev. 552, 555-56, 746 P.2d 637, 639-40 (1987) (reversing district court order granting a pretrial petition for a writ of habeas corpus where defendant’s claims of prejudice were speculative and premature).

Here, the State did not file the motion for leave of court to file an information by affidavit until 63 days after the preliminary examination.³ Moultrie asserted he was prejudiced by the delay because

...continued

the court. *See* NRS 173.035(2). The State is thus put in an untenable position because it cannot comply with the time requirement in NRS 173.035(3) without judicial sanction, in contrast to when a defendant is held to answer. Therefore, the only deadline the State could meet would be with regard to its motion for leave to file the information by affidavit. *Cf.* NRS 34.700 (defendant may challenge the commitment to district court by filing a pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus within 21 days of the first appearance in district court).

³The district court granted the motion for leave to file the information by affidavit 97 days after the preliminary examination was conducted; the information was filed 9 days after that order was signed.

he did not confer with counsel or pursue any defense as he did not know he could be recharged. He also claimed that the effectiveness of his defense was diminished because he did not live in Esmeralda County. The district court concluded that Moultrie's allegations of prejudice were speculative and did not warrant denial of the motion.

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