# TELEPHONE: (702) 384-8981; FAX: (702) 384-4329

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

4

5

MATTHEW LEON MOULTRIE,

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

vs.

Appellant,

Respondent.

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

2324

25

26

Electronically Filed Mar 04 2016 01:58 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Case No. 65390

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE, THE HONORABLE ROBERT S. LANE PRESIDING

## STATE'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Respondent STATE OF NEVADA, by and through its attorney of record, Robert E. Glennen III, Esq., Esmeralda County District Attorney, hereby files its Answer to Appelant's Petition For Review of Decision of the Court of Appeals, as Ordered by the Nevada Supreme Court on February 18, 2016.

This Motion is made and based upon SCR 40B, the following Points and Authorities, all papers, pleadings and documents on file herein, as well as any oral arguments that may be entertained at the hearing of this matter.

## POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

NRAP 40B allows review of decisions by the Court of Appeals where the Appellate Court has made a ruling in a case which is or

ROBERT E. GLENNEN III

ГЕLЕРНОNЕ: (702) 384-8981; FAX: (702) 384-4329

may be inconsistent with prior or subsequent rulings of this court, or where an important issue should be ruled upon by the entire court.

Here, the court of appeals' decision is uniform with prior decisions, and offers no new grounds in precedential or constitutional law.

### 1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

(All citations are to the State's Appendix filed with the Fastrack Response in the Court of Appeals) This case originates in a traffic stop performed by the Esmeralda County Sheriff s Office on December 11, 2011. (Appx. 17). During the stop, a deputy received permission to search the vehicle (Appx. 22), and allegedly discovered methamphetamine belonging to the Defendant, a passenger in the vehicle. (Appx. 31, 32, 44).

At preliminary hearing held on March 21, 2012, the Justice of the Peace upheld a hearsay objection to prevent the deputy from testifying about whether he received consent to search the vehicle the Defendant was riding in, then based the refusal to bind defendant over on that hearsay objection. (Appx. 24, 56). Additionally, although the State filed the charge as a second offense, it was unable to provide evidence of a prior conviction at the preliminary hearing. The State moved to amend the Complaint to conform to the evidence to charge PCS for Sale, first offense, which the court refused. (Appx. 56).

On the basis of the hearsay objection and the State's failure to prove a prior conviction, the Justice of the Peace

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

discharged the Defendant and dismissed the charge. (Appx. 56).

On May 28, 2012, 68 days after the court discharged and set Moultrie free, a Motion for Leave to File Information by affidavit was filed. After hearing, the District Court granted leave to file Information by Affidavit on July 2, 2012. That information was filed July 5, 2012, THREE days after the State was ordered to file it.

### 2. NRS 173.035 HAS NECESSARILY BEEN

## INTERPRETED AS ALLOWING INFORMATION BY AFFIDAVIT TO BE FILED MORE THAN 15 DAYS AFTER PRELIMINARY HEARING

NRS 173.035 states in pertinent part:

- 1. An information may be filed against any person for any offense when the person:
- (a) Has had a preliminary examination as provided by law before a justice of the peace, or other examining officer or magistrate, and has been bound over to appear at the court having jurisdiction; or
- (b) Has waived the right to a preliminary examination.
- If, however, upon the preliminary examination the accused has been discharged, or the affidavit or complaint upon which the examination has been held has not been delivered to the clerk of the proper court, the Attorney General when acting pursuant to a specific statute or the district attorney may, upon affidavit of any person who has knowledge of the commission of an offense, and who is a competent witness to testify in the case, setting forth the offense and the name of the person or persons charged with the commission thereof, upon being furnished with the names of the witnesses for the prosecution, by leave of the court first had, file an information, and process must forthwith be issued thereon. The affidavit need not be filed in cases where the defendant has waived a preliminary examination, or upon a preliminary examination has been bound over to appear at the court having jurisdiction.

3. The information must be filed within 15 days after the holding or waiver of the preliminary examination. Each information must set forth the crime committed according to the facts

NRS 178.566 states, as applicable here:

1. If no indictment is found or information filed against a person within 15 days after the person has been held to answer for a public offense which must be prosecuted by indictment or information, the court may dismiss the complaint.

In Nevada, NRS 173.035(2) has been interpreted by this court on twelve (12) occasions, as found by undersigned. Hicks v.

Sheriff, 86 Nev. 67, 464 P.2d 462 (1970), Martin v. Sheriff, 88

Nev. 303, 496 P.2d 754 (1972), Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist.

Court, 88 Nev. 638, at 640, 503 P.2d 842 (1972), Lamb v.

Loveless, 86 Nev. 286, 468 P.2d 24 (1970), Woofter v. Kelly, 90

Nev. 345, 526 P.2d 337 (1974), Cranford v. Smart, 92 Nev. 89, 545

P.2d 1162 (1976), Murphy v. State, 110 Nev. 194, at 197, 871 P.2d

916 (1994), Cipriano v. State, 111 Nev. 534, at 539, 894 P.2d 347

(1995), Feole v. State, 113 Nev. 628, at 631, 939 P.2d 1061

(1997), Parsons v. State, 115 Nev. 91, at 93, 978 P.2d 963

(1999), Parsons v. State, 116 Nev. 928, at 938, 10 P.3d 836

(2000), and State v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court (Warren), 114

Nev. 739, at 742, 964 P.2d 48 (1998).

In NONE of those 12 occasions was the fifteen day time limit discussed. In ALL those 12 occasions, the fifteen day time limit had been far surpassed. In <u>Parsons</u>, <u>supra</u>, mention was made of 97 days elapsing between the preliminary hearing and arragnment after filing the information, without any application of the 15

day requirement of NRS 173.035(3). This is certainly not an integral part of the decision, but was NOT disapproved in either decision.

Finally at least three of those cases cite approvingly of the State filing a Request for Information by Affidavit, after appeal, briefing, argument and decision, all of which must have taken months, not 15 days. State v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court (Warren), 114 Nev. 739, at 742, 964 P.2d 48 (1998); Martin v. Sheriff, 88 Nev. 303, 496 P.2d 754 (1972); and Sheriff, Carson City v. Cross, 88 Nev. 423, at 424, 498 P.2d 1341 (1972). Again, this is dicta but is specifically raised by this court as an option even after direct appeal.

Thus, Appellant's interpretation of NRS 173.035(3) as requiring a dismissal of a charge if not filed within 15 days necessarily requires overruling 45 years of necessary dicta in a dozen previous Nevada Supreme Court cases.

### 3. NRS 173.035 DOES NOT REQUIRE DISMISSAL IF NOT TIMELY

NRS 173.035 requires that an Information MUST be filed within 15 days. It does not prescribe a sanction for violating that provision. NRS 178.556 does prescribe a sanction for violation of NRS 173.035 in the context of a bindover, and requires the Defendant to prove prejudice in order to obtain that dismissal.

Nevada follows the maxim "expressio unius est exclusio alterius," the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another. Cramer v. State, DMV, 126 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 240 P.3d 8, 12

(2010); State v. Javier C., 128 Nev., 128 Nev. Adv. 50, \_\_\_\_\_

P.3d \_\_\_\_ (2012). Omissions of subject matters from statutory

provisions are presumed to have been intentional. State, Dep't

of Taxation v. DaimlerChrysler, 121 Nev. 541, 548, 119 P.3d 135,

139 (2005); Galloway v. Truesdell, 83 Nev. 13, 26, 422 P.2d 237,

246 (1967). Here, the fact that there is a specific remedy,

dismissal, for violation of NRS 173.035(3) after a bindover, but

NONE after a discharge, requires this court NOT dismiss a charge

after discharge.

Finally "This court generally avoids statutory interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous."

Karcher Firestopping v. Meadow Valley Contr., 125 Nev. 111, 113, 204 P.3d 1262, 1263 (2009); Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001). Here, courts must give effect, if possible, to every clause of a statute. The interpretation requested by Appellant gives no effect to any provision for requesting an Information by Affidavit.

## 4. INTERPRETATION OF TIME LIMIT ON INFORMATION BY AFFIDAVIT REQESTED BY APPELLANT LEADS TO ABSURD RESULTS

Here, Appellant requests that this court overrule the Court of Appeals and find that NRS 173.035 requires that the State MUST file an information by Affidavit within 15 days, and that the sole exception, that of NRS 178.556, only applies to persons bound over for trial and STILL IN CUSTODY! Applying the mandatory 15-day time limit to the filing of an information by affidavit pursuant to NRS 173.035(2) is impossible. NRS

173.035(3), an information must be filed within 15 days of the holding of a preliminary examination.

If a defendant is held to answer, the State exercises an executive or administrative function by filing the information in district court. See NRS 173.045. The 15-day limitation is a logical restriction in the case of a defendant being held to answer because filing an information simply involves retitling the complaint as an information and endorsing the names of witnesses. Id.

If a defendant is discharged, however, an information by affidavit may only be filed if the State first obtains the transcript, which must be prepared, researches and files a motion, obtains a hearing, attends that hearing and is granted leave of court, a judicial decision, without that same deadline on the court to make its decision. See NRS 173.035(2). The State is thus put in an untenable position because it cannot comply with the time requirement in NRS 173.035(3) without judicial sanction, in contrast to when a defendant is held to answer. See Moultrie Affirmation, f.n. 3, pg. 4, 5. It would be a statutory interpretation that renders the entire Information by Affidavit subsection nugatory, in violation of statutory construction rules. Southern Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark County, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005).

In addition, this absurd result would be compounded by the fact that those out of custody would be allowed to apply the 15 day limit in a draconian manner, while those whose rights are

being infringed, those in custody, would have to prove prejudice. Compare NRS 178.556 with NRS 173.035. Finally, those in a large enough county for a standing Grand Jury would be charged at the State's leisure after presenting the same evidence to the grand jury, without any time limit other than the statute of limitations. See NRS 172.255; State v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court (Warren), 114 Nev. 739, at 742, 964 P.2d 48 (1998).

## 5. EGREGIOUS ERROR HAS BEEN INTERPRETED IN ACCORD WITH NEVADA LAW

Appellant's second reason for review asserts this decision breaks with precedent regarding egregious error. This is far from the truth. A brief summary of that term is that failure to present evidence to support an element of the crime at preliminary hearing is NOT egregious error. This court has held that NRS 173.035(2) contemplates a safeguard against egregious error by a magistrate in determining probable cause, [and is] not a device to be used by a prosecutor to satisfy deficiencies in evidence at a preliminary hearing. Cranford v. Smart, 92 Nev. 89, 91, 545 P.2d 1162, 1163 (1976).

In contrast, the Nevada Supreme Court has found egregious error where there was plain error effecting the bindover decision. Parsons v. State, 116 Nev. 928, at 938, 10 P.3d 836 (2000). Here, just like in Parsons, the Court made a plain error in erroneously granting a bogus hearsay objection, without which probable cause existed to bind defendant over. Thus, egregious as previously defined has been met.

## CONCLUSION

## ROBERT E. GLENNEN III 601 EAST CHARLESTON LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89104

TELEPHONE: (702) 384-8981; FAX: (702) 384-4329

22

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

23

24

25

26

In conclusion, the appellate court has applied the law and facts of previous Court decisions applicable to the above matter. Rehearing that matter in the Nevada Supreme Court is unnecessary because a contrary ruling would overrule 45 years of necessary dicta by this court, torture the rules of statutory construction, overrule plain language, render impotent the Information by Affidvavit process, and require overruling precedent on egregious Thus, rehearing should be denied.

SUBMITTED this 3 day of March, 2016.

GLENNEN III Nev. Bar No. 002143

Esmeralda District Attorney

P. O. Box 339

Goldfield, NV 89013 Attorney for Respondent

## ROBERT E. GLENNEN III 601 EAST CHARLESTON LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89104

# FELEPHONE: (702) 384-8981; FAX: (702) 384-4329